
 1 

 Democratic Services 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent  CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872453 
DX: 6312 
Minicom: (01304) 820115 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
e-mail: democraticservices 
 @dover.gov.uk 

 
 
 

12 August 2022  
 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
NOTICE OF DELEGATED DECISIONS – (DD12 & DD13 22) ROUGH SLEEPER 
ACCOMMODATION PROGRAMME 2021-2024 & ACCEPTANCE OF KCC GRANT 
FUNDING FOR HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION SOFTWARE   
 
Please find attached details of two decisions taken by Mr Mike Davis, Strategic Director 
(Corporate Resources). 
 
Only DD12 22 (Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme 2021-2024) is subject to call-in, 
the deadline for which will expire at 10.00am on Thursday, 18 August.   
 
If call-in is not activated, the implementation date for this decision will be noon on 18 August. 
 
Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-
Smith, Democratic Services Officer, on 01304 872303 or by e-mail at 
democraticservices@dover.gov.uk. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
ENCL 
 

1   NOTICE OF DELEGATED DECISIONS - (DD12 & DD13 22) ROUGH SLEEPER 
ACCOMMODATION PROGRAMME 2021-2024 & ACCEPTANCE OF KCC 
GRANT FUNDING FOR HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION SOFTWARE (Pages 2-
9) 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Decision Notice 
 

Delegated Decision 
 

 

Dover District Council 

Decision No:                     DD12 
   

Subject: ROUGH SLEEPER ACCOMMODATION PROGRAMME 2021-

2024 

Decision Date  

Notification Date: 

19 August 2022 

12 August 2022 

Implementation Date: 19 August 2022 

Decision to be taken 
by: 

Mike Davis, Strategic Director (Corporate Resources) and 

Section 151 Officer 

Report of: Louise Taylor, Head of Housing 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Derek Murphy, Portfolio Holder for Social 

Housing, Port Health, Skills and Education 

Delegated Authority: Delegation C79 of Section 6 (Scheme of Officer Delegations) 
of Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution to 
the Section 151 Officer: ‘To make application for and to 
accept grants or other assistance on behalf of the Council.’ 

Decision Type: Executive Key Decision 

Call-In to Apply? Yes (call-in will expire at 10.00am on 18 August 2022) 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Reason for the 

Decision: 

To accept grant funding and enter into a grant agreement for this.   

Decision: To accept the grant funding of £216,000 to purchase three units 
of accommodation under the Rough Sleeper Accommodation 
Programme and enter into the associated grant agreement. 

 

1. Summary 

 
1.1 The Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme (RSAP) is the latest tranche of 

Government funding to support rough sleepers into long-term accommodation.  Dover 
District Council previously successfully bid for funding under the Next Steps 
Accommodation Programme (NSAP). Both funding streams provide capital funding to 
deliver additional move-on properties for individuals who experienced rough sleeping 
and revenue to provide support to the move-on properties. 
 

1.2 Dover District Council submitted a bid for funding to purchase three units of 
accommodation under the RSAP programme in 2022 and have recently been advised 
that the application was successful. 

2

Agenda Item No 1



  
1.3 Dover District Council now need to enter into a grant agreement with Homes England. 

 
2. Introduction  

 
2.1 Dover District Council was successful in its bid in 2020 for funding under NSAP and 

as a result, purchased five properties, accommodating six entrenched rough sleepers. 
 

2.2 The Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme was launched in 2021 and Dover 
District Council submitted a further bid. 
 

2.3 The bid, for three one-bedroom, self-contained properties, was submitted in April 2022 
and we have recently been advised that it was successful. 
 

2.4 A financial appraisal was carried out based on a purchase price of £150,000 each and 
the capital bid was for a total of £216,000 (£72,000 per property). 
 

2.5 This means that Dover District Council will contribute a total of £234,000 (£78,000 per 
property) from its Property Purchase Fund.  
 

3. Identification of Options 

3.1 Option 1: Agree and accept the funding and enter into a grant agreement with Homes 

England. 

3.2 Option 2: Not enter into the grant agreement and refuse the funding. 

4. Evaluation of Options 

4.1 Option 1 is the recommended option. The additional funding offered to Dover District 

Council will allow us to build upon the success we have had with the NSAP scheme 

and provide additional units of accommodation. 

4.2 Option 2 Not enter into the grant agreement and refuse the funding is not the 

recommended option. 

5. Resource Implications 

5.1 Dover District Council will contribute a total of £234,000 (£78,000 per property) from 
the HRA Property Purchase budget.  

5.2 The on-going revenue cost (management and maintenance) will be covered by the 
rental income.  As with similar purchases the Council has made it will be important that 
the future maintenance costs are considered when purchasing the properties. 

6. Climate Change and Environmental Implications  

6.1 There should be no environmental or climate change implications as a consequence       

of this decision being taken. 

7. Corporate Implications 

7.1 Comment from the Director of Finance (linked to the MTFP): ‘Accountancy have been 
consulted in the writing of this report and have no further comment to add (AC)’. 

7.2  Comment from the Solicitor to the Council: The Head of Governance & HR has been 
consulted and has no further comment to make 

3



7.3  Comment from the Equalities Officer: ‘This report does not specifically highlight any 
equality implications, however in discharging their duties members are required to 
comply with the public sector equality duty as set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149’    

7.4      Other Officers (as appropriate):  None received 

 

8. Appendices 

None.  

 
 

4

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2010%2F15%2Fsection%2F149&data=05%7C01%7CLouiseJ.Taylor%40DOVER.GOV.UK%7C3aa8f78a67084193c7bb08da6ef67eb3%7C97d0cb53199d4c70a001375e8c953735%7C0%7C0%7C637944302201924251%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=k4ujf38Lj5JETKnAJ4ZdqUYhKbwjiNrgPSb2qYgsBzg%3D&reserved=0


Decision Notice 
 

Delegated Decision 
 

Dover District Council 

Decision No: DD13 

Subject: ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT FUNDING FROM KENT COUNTY 
COUNCIL IN THE FORM OF ACCESS TO SOFTWARE FOR 
HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION  

Date of Decision: 11 August 2022 

Notification Date: 12 August 2022 

Implementation Date: 11 August 2022 

Decision taken by: Mike Davis, Strategic Director (Corporate Resources)  

Delegated Authority: Delegation C79 of Section 6 (Scheme of Officer Delegations) 
of Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution to 
the Section 151 Officer: ‘To make application for and to 
accept grants or other assistance on behalf of the Council’ 

Decision Type: Executive Non-Key Decision  

Call-In to Apply? No (call-in does not apply to non-Key Officer Decisions) 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Reason for the 
Decision: 

Dover District Council has been invited, as one of a small number 
of Kent Authorities, to pilot the use of a software product that uses 
predictive analytics to help target homelessness prevention work.   
The cost for the one-year pilot cost will be met by Kent County 
Council. The project also includes funding from Kent County 
Council for a full-time member of staff on a one-year fixed-term 
contract to undertake the homelessness prevention work.   

Decision: To accept grant funding from Kent County Council in the form of 
licensed access to a predictive analytics software product, 
Xantura, and financial resource to recruit a member of staff on a 
one-year fixed term contract to undertake homelessness 
prevention work.       

 

1. Consideration and Alternatives (if applicable) 

1.1 Early intervention to prevent homelessness is a key priority for Dover District Council. 

1.2 Kent County Council has used Covid recovery funding to obtain licensed access to a 
software product that uses data analytics to predict households approaching crisis 
point and at possible risk of losing their home. 

1.3 Dover District Council has been invited, as one of a small number of Kent Authorities, 
to pilot the use of this product, the cost of which for the pilot year will be met by Kent 
County Council. 

1.4 The project also includes funding from Kent County Council for a full-time member of 
staff on a one-year fixed-term contract to undertake the homeless prevention work. 

5



1.5 If the pilot work is successful, Dover District Council would need to fund the cost of 
the project from its own resources. Access to the software would be in the region of 
£20,000 per annum. 

2. Introduction 

2.1 Early intervention to prevent homelessness is a key priority for Dover District Council. 
The outcome for individual households is better if successful interventions can be 
delivered before crisis point and there is a correlating reduction in households 
requiring urgent support and temporary accommodation. 

2.2 OneView is the product of the data science company, Xantura. It brings together 
large amounts of information from different data sets and uses predictive analytics to 
help identify households that might require targeted support for a variety of reasons. 
Maidstone Borough Council has already used Xantura OneView as a predictive 
model in relation to homelessness and believe that this has allowed it to identify 
people at risk of this between 6 and 9 months in advance. This provides the 
opportunity for the Council to offer additional support to those households to help 
prevent this. 

2.3 Kent County Council has used Covid recovery funding to invest in the greater use of 
data analytic software and is keen to see the use of Xantura across the County. 
Dover District Council has been invited to be one of a small number of pilot 
authorities for the first phase of this project and has been offered access to the 
software and funds to resource its use for 1 year. The intention is that if this delivers 
the results and savings that are anticipated, District Councils will invest in this service 
directly in year 2 at an estimated cost of £20,000 for licences for the product per 
authority. 

2.4  For the purposes of the pilot project, DDC will be using Xantura to help identify 
families who are considered to be at greater risk of losing their homes and becoming 
homeless. 

3. Information Governance  

3.1 This project is underpinned by comprehensive Information Governance to ensure 
secure, appropriate and controlled data sharing as agreed with data owners. All data 
sharing will be managed through a set of data sharing agreements and protocols. 

3.2 For this project, data will be taken from the Civica Revenues and Benefits system, 
the in-house housing management system Northgate, the Housing Options System 
(currently Locata) and from Kent County Council. 

3.3 Where data sets are identified that sit within another partner or within Kent County 
Council, we will engage with the relevant party to discuss the sharing of such data 
and have in place appropriate information sharing agreements.  

3.4 All data transmissions between Dover District Council and Xantura will be through 
IG-Bridge, a standalone software component that pseudonymises and encrypts data 
on-site to ensure a safe and secure transmission of information. No personal data is 
held against special categories of data at any point after leaving the council. This 
process ensures the privacy of individuals is maintained while still allowing for 
targeted interventions to be possible for individuals where appropriate. 

3.5 Pseudonymisation is the separation of data from direct identifiers, so that 
Identification of an individual from the data is not possible without additional 
Information that is held separately. Pseudonymisation significantly reduces the risks 
associated with data processing while still maintaining usefulness of the data and is 
encouraged by the GDPR. 

3.6 The preferred process for partners to provide data would consist of the IG Bridge 
being installed on the partner site so they can directly transfer data to Xantura (as 

6



data processors); there would be a data sharing checklist agreed with Dover (as data 
controller), governing how and when the data is to be used. 

3.7 Data will include a range of types of information, but all data sets are required to 
include personally identifiable information to enable the data matching process. This 
includes: 

 Name, address, postcode, and other personal identifiers where available. 

 Some data will include special categories of information. This may include: 

 Health and social care data  

 Age  

 Gender  

 Disability  

 Marriage status 

3.8 All data used will have a defined data sharing agreement and protocol so that 
personal information is carefully managed. Data held within the platform may only be 
used for purposes outlined in the Information Sharing Agreement (ISA). The 
pseudonymisation approach ensures personal information is only used when a 
defined risk threshold is met. 

3.9 By assigning a random, encrypted unique reference number to each record at the 
point of receipt at the local authority site, it becomes possible to receive 
pseudonymised information and hold it separately from the personal data while being 
analysed. No information leaves the UK at any point - information is transferred 
between Xantura and its data centre across a Virtual Private Network. 

3.10 All data in transit and at rest is encrypted and is held as pseudonymised data. This 
pseudonymised data is held at Xantura's data centre in Newbury. The data centre 
has high-level security certifications, being both ISO27001/PSN/ISO9001 accredited, 
holding Cyber Essentials (CE) and UK Digital marketplace certifications. These 
certifications have been provided separately. 

3.11 Xantura is registered with the ICO and only at the point where it becomes appropriate 
to surface the data (i.e.when a council-defined ‘risk threshold’ is met) does the 
sensitive data get sent back to the council to be re-matched and presented to a case 
worker. Through this process, no human outside of the local authority ever comes 
into contact with the data while the personal identifiable information and the sensitive 
data are still together. 

4. Who Will Have Access to the Data 

4.1 Access for Dover front-line professionals and staff is managed by a set of tightly 
controlled access rights, which dictate who has access to the system and what they 
are able to see, with specific restrictions able to be placed all the way down to field 
level if necessary. Rights are reviewed on an ongoing basis with council and service 
teams to ensure access is kept to a minimum, requiring all users to log in through a 
unique username and password combination. 

4.2 Access should always remain restricted only to those that require it as part of their 
role. Access rights can be graded, allowing certain people to have access to the 
entire platform, while others are able to see a certain level of detail. At initial setup, 
Xantura will set up access and restrictions. On an ongoing basis, Dover will be 
responsible for the ongoing management of access rights to the platform, and as 
such can amend these to ensure only those who require access as part of their role 
are able to view the platform. 

7



4.3 Data should never be shared with external organisations unless explicitly stated by 
the local authority. As such, data will never be sold or shared outside of the project to 
anyone other than local authority professionals. We will ensure that the public is able 
to find information about the project and the way in which their data may be used and 
privacy statements will be updated. 

4.4 Training and guidance on how to use the system will be provided to all users to 
ensure it is used appropriately and to make it clear that the platform should be 
complementary to ongoing work rather than as a replacement. Once the system is 
operationally live, we will revisit this training and guidance to encourage appropriate 
use of the system and will refresh this DPIA to reflect any changes in instruction. 

5. Identification of Options 

5.1 Option 1: Approve and agree the offer from Kent County Council of access to the 

Xantura, One View product and grant to support implementation for a period of 12 

months. 

5.2 Option 2: Reject the offer of KCC funding for the project and withdraw from the phase 

1 implementation. 

6. Evaluation of Options 

6.1 Option 1 is the recommended option. Access to Xantura One View offers a unique 
opportunity to deliver more homeless prevention work and funding for implementation 
can be used to secure staff resource to do this work through. 

6.2 Option 2 Reject the offer and withdraw from phase 1 implementation. This is not the 
recommended option as in future years all Kent authorities may be persuaded to use 
Xantura one view and the offer of funds to cover implementation may not be 
available at that point. 

7. Resource Implications 

7.1 System integration and set up can be delivered within existing Council resources.  
Funding of £40,000 is being provided by Kent County Council to cover the costs of 
the officer to conduct the follow-up work with cases identified as at risk. 

7.2 If the project is successful and Dover District Council wishes to continue to access 
the software package it is estimated that there will be an annual cost of £20,000 for 
this. 

8. Climate Change and Environmental Implications  

8.1 There should be no environmental or climate change implications as a consequence 

of this decision being taken.   

9. Corporate Implications 

9.1 Comment from the Director of Finance (linked to the MTFP) ‘Accountancy have been 
involved in the writing of this report and have no further comment to add (AC)’ 

9.2  Comment from the Solicitor to the Council: The Solicitor to the Council has been 
consulted in the preparation of this report and has not further comments to make. 

9.3 Comment from the Equalities Officer: This report does not specifically highlight any 
equality implications, however in discharging their duties members are required to 
comply with the public sector equality duty as set out in Section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149’   

 

8

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2010%2F15%2Fsection%2F149&data=05%7C01%7CLouiseJ.Taylor%40DOVER.GOV.UK%7C33c492c3375b4df9e0ea08da746228d6%7C97d0cb53199d4c70a001375e8c953735%7C0%7C0%7C637950262174335641%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=DWI3edwlu56Ji3WV8DXViYKKqSLjGaqelBuWhE%2FoKco%3D&reserved=0


10. Other Officers (as appropriate): None received. 

11. Any Conflicts of Interest Declared? 

            None. 

12. Supporting Information (as applicable) 

9


	Agenda
	1 Notice of Delegated Decisions - (DD12 & DD13 22) Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme 2021-2024 and Acceptance of KCC Grant Funding for Homelessness Prevention Software
	DD13 22 - KCC Grant for OneView Notice


